South Dakota State University

Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange

Biology and Microbiology Graduate Students Plan B Research Projects

Department of Biology and Microbiology

2020

Antidepressant Effects on REM Sleep

Mitchel Adams

Follow this and additional works at: https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/biomicro_plan-b

Part of the Biology Commons, Chemicals and Drugs Commons, Mental and Social Health Commons, and the Microbiology Commons



Antidepressant Effects on REM Sleep

Mitchel Adams, South Dakota State University

Mitchel.Adams@jacks.sdstate.edu



Table of Contents

Abstract	3
Sleep Cycle Overview	4
Antidepressant Effects on REM Sleep	5
Tricyclics	8
Monoamine Oxidase Inhibitors	10
Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors	10
Serotonergic Antidepressants	14
Alternatives to Antidepressants	15
Limitations of Studies	17
Conclusion	18
Future Work	19
Acknowledgements	19
References	20



Abstract

Individuals who deal with depression are typically prescribed antidepressants in order to alleviate the depressive symptoms that they may be having. Polysomnographic sleep research has revealed that depression is associated with altered sleep architecture and distorted REM sleep quality.² Specifically, increased REM sleep duration and density have proved to be markers that predict recurrence and relapse for depressed individuals. REM sleep serves to stimulate regions of the brain that are important with learning and memory consolidation. However, an increased duration of REM sleep in depressed individuals proves to be unfavorable. Antidepressants drugs aim to weaken sleep quality, which is mainly due to increased noradrenergic or dopaminergic neurotransmission and the activation of serotonergic 5-HT₂ receptors.⁴ Therefore, different classes of antidepressants have been developed to dampen REM sleep duration and density. Of course, this must be accomplished without determinantal effects for neuronal signaling within the brain. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI), norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (NRI), activating tricyclic antidepressants (TCA), serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRI), and monoamine oxidase antidepressants (MAOI) are most commonly used in today's society. Current knowledge about antidepressants and their effects on REM sleep are explored in this review.



Sleep Cycle Overview

There are a few mechanisms that control sleeping periods in living organisms. First off, the molecule adenosine is produced by the degradation of adenosine triphosphate (ATP). The accumulation of adenosine during wakefulness is associated with the depletion of ATP reserve storages in the brain. This, along with your circadian rhythm, will trigger sleep.

A sleep cycle is the progression of someone to complete four different stages of sleep. Non-rapid eye movement (NREM) sleep is characterized by three different stages of sleep ranging from light to deep sleep. Light sleep is considered Stage 1 and Stage 2 of NREM sleep and deep sleep is defined to be Stage 3 of NREM sleep. Lastly, rapid-eye movement (REM) sleep is the final stage of the sleep cycle, which sleepers will display rapid eye movements and faster breathing and pulse. The first cycle typically will run 90 minutes in length, but will increase after as a normal sleep cycle lasts between 100-120 minutes. A typical person will complete four to five sleep cycles a night. Additionally, it is recommended that young adults get seven to nine hours of sleep.¹⁰

NREM sleep is the longest stage of the sleep cycle. Stage 1 is the lightest stage of the sleep cycle, and during this stage, it is often easy to be awakened by external sources. Brain activity slowly declines and many bodily processes begin to relax as the person is beginning to fall into heavier sleep.³⁰

Stage 2 of NREM sleep is harder to be awakened than stage 1 of NREM sleep. Stage 2 of NREM sleep is the first defined cycle of NREM sleep as sleep spindles and K complexes begin to form in the brain. Slowly brain waves will decline as K complexes and sleep spindles begin to rapidly fire. Both of these brain activity waves serve as protection to awaken from sleep



in the middle of the night. In addition to this brain activity, heart rate starts to slow and body temperature decreases.

The final stage of NREM sleep, known as deep sleep, is unique as delta waves are present throughout the brain. It is very difficult to awaken a person who is in the third stage of NREM sleep. Human growth hormone is released and attempts to restore bodily processes during NREM sleep. The immune system will also replenish helper T cells and muscles throughout the body to be restored.¹⁶

Most of the dreams that individuals experience occurs during REM sleep, which is known as the fourth and final stage of the sleep cycle. Brain waves are the most active during this stage as well, along with movements of the eye that are rapid. REM sleep stimulates regions of the brain that are important with learning and also is important in memory consolidation.²⁵

Antidepressant Effects on Sleep

Studies have shown that improvements in depression have been correlated with patients having reduced amounts of REM sleep. Antidepressants are often given to patients struggling with depression, as most antidepressants significantly reduce REM sleep. But, antidepressants, don't just reduce REM sleep. In addition, many of them also alter the sleep architecture of the patient and affect sleep consolidation.⁹ The effects of these antidepressants is important for clinical response.

Antidepressants drugs weaken sleep quality, which is mainly due to increased noradrenergic or dopaminergic neurotransmission and the activation of serotonergic 5-HT₂ receptors.¹³ The most common antidepressant drugs are known as selective serotonin reuptake



inhibitors (SSRI), activating tricyclic antidepressants (TCA), serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRI), and monoamine oxidase antidepressants (MAOI).²²

On the other hand, antidepressants that have a strong antagonistic action at serotonin 5-HT2 receptors (nefazodone and trazodone) rapidly improve sleep. Sedating TCA, mianserine, and mirtazapine are examples of antidepressants that have antihistaminergic action. Some patients have particularly described improvement of sleep quality within the first dose of the drug given.³

Studies look to outline parameters of sleep continuity, which has a framework that models sleep latency, total sleep time, sleep efficiency, wake after sleep onset, parameters of sleep depth, and parameters of REM sleep. Parameters of sleep depth monitors total and relative amounts of stage N3 sleep and delta sleep ratio. In addition, parameters of REM sleep examine REM latency, total and relative amounts of stage REM sleep, and REM density.⁶ Hypnograms are typically used in studies to observe changes in sleep stages in depressed patients. Disturbances of sleep continuity, reduction of sleep, and disinhibition of REM sleep with shortening of REM latency and prolonged first REM period are characteristic of sleep in depression.¹²

The sleep architecture of a patient being tested is critical to determining the efficacy of the drug being tested. The first parameter of sleep continuity that is measured is sleep latency. This is known as the time from the start of recording to onset of sleep for the patient. Total sleep time (TST) reflects the total time the patient is sleeping. Additionally, sleep efficiency is noted as the percentage of time spent asleep during the recording period. Values are typically 85% in elderly patients, and 90% in younger children. Wake after sleep onset (WASO) should be scored as the time the patient is awake after sleep onset has occurred. For experimental purposes, this



time should not exceed 30 minutes. Another parameter looks at total and relative amounts of stage NREM3 (N3) sleep and it is the total amount of time and relative percentage of sleep occurring in NREM stage 3 sleep. Studies label delta sleep ratio as the amount of slow wave sleep that occurs during the first and second sleep cycles. The amount of time from the onset of sleep to the first cycle of REM sleep that occurs for the patient is defined as REM latency as well. Another parameter of REM sleep describes the total and relative amount of stage REM sleep and is expressed in as the duration in minutes and percentage relative to total sleep time in REM sleep. Lastly, REM density reflects the ratio of the intensity of rapid eye movements phasic activity to the amount of time in REM sleep. This value is typically expressed as the number of eye movements seen per minute of REM sleep.³²

Drug class	Sleep continuity	SWS	REM latency	REM sleep	Mechanism of action related to effect on sleep
Sedative TCA (e.g., amitriptyline, doxepin, trimipramine)	1	↑	Ŷ	\downarrow	antihistaminergic effect, inhibition of serotonin, and norepinephrine reuptake
Activating TCA (e.g., imipramine, desipramine)	↓	\downarrow	Ŷ	\downarrow	inhibition of serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake
MAOI (e.g., tranylcypromine, moclobemide)	$\downarrow / 0$?	↑	\downarrow	inhibition of monoamine oxidase enzyme
SSRI (e.g., fluoxetine, escitalopram, paroxetine, sertraline)	↓/0	0/↑	Ť	Ļ	selective inhibition of serotonin reuptake
SNRI and NRI (e.g., venlafaxine, duloxetine, reboxetine)	Ļ	0//↑	Ť	Ļ	inhibition of serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake
Agomelatine	1	↑	0	0	agonism at melatonin M1 and M2 receptors, antagonism at serotonergic 5-HT2C receptors
Bupropion	0/↓	0/↑	0/↓	0/↑	inhibition of norepinephrine and dopamine reuptake
Sedative antidepressants (e.g., mirtazapine, trazodone)	1	↑	0	0	antihistaminergic effect, antagonism at serotonergic 5-HT2A receptors
Vortioxetine	0/↓	?	Ŷ	\downarrow	inhibition of serotonin reuptake and modulation of serotonergic receptors activity

Table 1. Effects of antidepressants on sleep are outlined by drug class, sleep continuity, SWS,

REM latency, REM sleep, and mechanism of action.



Tricyclics

One of the most known classes of antidepressants is tricyclic antidepressants, which are known to be potent suppressors of REM sleep.⁷ In addition, this class of antidepressants is important in decreasing the amount of time someone is in REM sleep and prolongs REM latency. Tricyclic antidepressants prolong REM latency, meaning the patient takes longer to transition into REM sleep.¹⁵ The most potent of the REM-suppressing TCAs are desipramine and clomipramine. These TCAs increase stage 1 sleep, and overall, decrease the quality of sleep for the patient. A stronger serotonergic reuptake that has been shown to have inhibiting effects have the most effects on sleep. Desipramine accomplishes this by elevating noradrenaline at targets of the locus coeruleus and have a side effect profile that is limited. Cholinergic pontine neurons are inactivated via desipramine, ultimately leading to inhibition of REM sleep.²¹





Figure 1. Consolidation and reconsolidation effects induced by desipramine. **A**. Effect of 10mg/kg desipramine on errors per lap in a spatial maze relative to control. **B**. Relationship between REM sleep and performance in maze reconsolidation task. **C**. Relationship between TR sleep during DMI treatment and performance on familiar maze. **D**. Effect of 10mg/kg of desipramine on errors per lap in novel maze. **E**. Change in percentage of TR and novel maze performance relationship. **F**. Correlation of REM and TR sleep states during DMI testing.

This study showed that in depressed individuals, DMI that was taken orally reduced REM sleep for 5 to 8 hours. The 10 mg/kg desipramine dose in the eight subjects resulted from an average time in 12 h light phase sleep that went from $8.35 \pm 1.24\%$ to $3.51 \pm 1.22\%$. REM sleep, in addition, was consistent across all testing days when t tests were paired on first and last days.



This would suggest that no REM sleep adaptation was present with administration of desipramine.

Monamine Oxidase Inhibitors

One of the first class of antidepressants that were developed were monoamine oxidase inhibitors. Monoamine oxidase breaks down dopamine, serotonin, and norepinephrine. REM sleep can also be outright eliminated in some patients if they are prescribed a monoamine oxidase inhibitor. However, this means that the patient will encounter a significant REM rebound when weaned off the antidepressant. Moclobemide, a known MAOI, is thought to enhance REM sleep and decreases REM latency. Not all monoamine oxidase inhibitors have the same effects for example. When 450mg was given to the patient every day for four weeks, moclobemide was shown to increase wakefulness, increase sleep latency, and decrease total sleep time for the patient. Moclobemide has been shown in many studies to enhance REM sleep, but other studies have concluded that the MAOI has suppressed REM sleep.

A study conducted in 2018 in adult male rats look at the effect of tranylcypromine, a known monoamine oxidase inhibitor. A decrease in REM sleep and dizziness was shown in the rats, along with leading to severe hypotension. The total amount of time in REM sleep was decreased and a longer time of REM sleep latency was found. Tranylcypromine acts as an irreversible inhibitor and is nonselective.⁷

Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors

The first known selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI), fluoxetine, was developed and brought to the United States in 1988. Since then, studies have been conducted to determine



its efficacy. At the time, fluoxetine was the most available antidepressant and its selectivity for specific serotonin receptors made it the ideal SSRI of choice.⁹ Fluoxetine side effects can include skin reactions, but this side effect can't be eliminated due to the fact that reducing the dose of the SSRI will have no effect. More of the neurotransmitter that it is available to interact with is accomplished by the increase of inhibition of serotonin reuptake. 5-HT₃ receptors are stimulated when SSRI therapy is initiated on a patient, but this side effect can be combated by reducing the dose of the SSRI.

The most common symptom that is developed when a patient is taking an SSRI is nausea. Other frequent side effects via SSRI therapy includes gastrointestinal disturbances. Fluvoxamine is another common SSRI whose most frequent side effect includes gastrointestinal disturbances, while other SSRIs like fluoxetine and sertraline side effects commonly include insomnia, agitation, and anxiety. Also, the most adverse effects of being on SSRI therapy can have implications on weight gain, sexual dysfunction, and sleep disturbance.

Many studies have proved to show that weight gain can be a possible side effect with the long term use of SSRIs. During initial therapy, some SSRIs were associated with weight loss. But, after long term use, weight is often regained or six months after use. On average, patients on fluoxetine gained 21 pounds, those on sertraline gained 15 pounds, and those on paroxetine gained 24 pounds. Subtle differences may not show direct causation, but the data behind the long term use of these SSRIs points that these values are significant. Citalopram has been shown to least likely cause a weight gain from long term use, but, a great deal of patients report having mood and anxiety disorders within five weeks of SSRI therapy.

The mechanisms behind to why SSRIs can directly affect sexual dysfunction are not completely known. However, researchers believe that it can be possibly affecting patients due to



nitric oxide. This is due to the stimulation of the postsynaptic 5-HT₂ receptors located on the spinal cord. Sexual dysfunction can vary greatly across genders due to the obvious biological differences.²⁷ Roughly 2 to 7 percent of patients report sexual side effects when on SSRI therapy, so the side effects appear to be minimal. However, when patients are given a sexual dysfunction questionnaire, these numbers change significantly. 55 percent of patients report sexual dysfunction through the use of SSRI therapy. This enormous difference speaks to the fact that most patients are not always comfortable speaking about these topics with their physicians. Because of this discrepancy, it is suggested the physicians obtain a sexual function history of their patients before starting their patient on SSRI therapy.

The Hamilton Depression Rating Scale provides a way to determine a patient's level of depression before, during, and after treatment of a certain antidepressant. An interview is conducted via the researcher and is scored on a 5-point scale, ranging from 0 (not present in the individual) to 4 (severe). The SDS Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale attempts to cover physiological, affective, and somatic symptoms associated with depression. It is based on a 20-item self-report questionnaire and is framed in positive/negative statements. Each item is scored on a 1 to 4 Likert scale with a score of 50-60 indicating depression and 70+ outlining severe depression. The AIS Athens Insomnia Scale assess insomnia symptoms in individuals with sleep disorders. The scale is based on eight factors which cover problems with nocturnal sleep and daytime dysfunction. Score are then rated on a 0-3 scale indicating no problem present or very delayed/not sleeping at all. Lastly, CGI-S Clinical Global Impression - Severity Scale assesses a severity aspect of a patient's illness. The Severity Scale is based on a 7-point scale with 1 being normal to 7 displaying the most extremely ill patients. The clinician is asked to rate the severity of the patient's illness with past experience of patients who have underwent the same diagnosis.



Variables	Baseline	Week 1	Week 2	Week 6	Week 12	Week 24			
	Estimated marginal means (SE)								
HDRS									
Mirtazapine	23.0 (1.2)	19.0 (1.3)	15.5 (1.3)	9.6 (1.4)	9.3 (1.5)	5.9 (1.6)			
SSRIs	23.1 (0.9)	19.2 (0.9)	16.9 (0.9)	12.9 (1.0)	9.5 (1.0)	5.4 (1.1)			
Sertraline	23.2 (1.1)	19.1 (1.2)	16.3 (1.1)	12.1 (1.2)	8.7 (1.3)	5.3 (1.4)			
Paroxetine	22.9 (1.5)	19.4 (1.5)	17.8 (1.5)	14.6 (1.7)	11.2 (1.8)	5.8 (2.0)			
SDS									
Mirtazapine	56.0 (1.7)	52.4 (1.8)	46.6 (1.8)	44.0 (1.9)	43.7 (2.1)	38.0 (2.2)			
SSRIs	57.6 (1.3)	54.8 (1.3)	52.8 (1.3)	48.7 (1.4)	44.9 (1.5)	41.8 (1.6)			
Sertraline	57.4 (1.6)	54.1 (1.7)	51.2 (1.6)	47.2 (1.7)	42.4 (1.8)	40.3 (1.9)			
Paroxetine	57.9 (2.1)	56.1 (2.1)	55.0 (2.1)	51.4 (2.3)	49.8 (2.5)	44.5 (2.8)			
AIS									
Mirtazapine	11.5 (0.9)	8.4 (0.9)	6.6 (0.9)	5.8 (1.0)	6.8 (1.1)	5.0 (1.1)			
SSRIs	12.9 (0.6)	10.2 (0.6)	9.3 (0.6)	7.5 (0.7)	6.6 (0.7)	5.5 (0.8)			
Sertraline	12.8 (0.8)	10.0 (0.8)	8.1 (0.8)	6.9 (0.8)	5.3 (0.9)	4.6 (1.0)			
Paroxetine	13.1 (1.0)	10.5 (1.0)	11.3 (1.0)	8.8 (1.2)	9.2 (1.2)	7.2 (1.4)			
CGI-S									
Mirtazapine	4.4 (0.2)	3.8 (0.2)	3.2 (0.2)	2.8 (0.2)	2.6 (0.2)	1.8 (0.2)			
SSRIs	4.3 (0.1)	4.0 (0.1)	3.6 (0.1)	3.1 (0.1)	2.7 (0.1)	2.1 (0.2)			
Sertraline	4.4 (0.2)	4.0 (0.2)	3.6 (0.2)	3.0 (0.2)	2.6 (0.2)	2.1 (0.2)			
Paroxetine	4.2 (0.2)	4.1 (0.2)	3.6 (0.2)	3.5 (0.2)	3.0 (0.3)	2.0 (0.3)			

Table 2. Clinical efficacy outcomes for all patients. HDRS 17-Item Hamilton Depression Rating

 Scale, SDS Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale, AIS Athens Insomnia Scale, CGI-S Clinical

 Global Impression- Severity Scale. Mirtazapine is a noradrenergic and specific serotonergic

 antidepressant while sertraline and paroxetine and selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors.

This study conducted by Tasuku Hashimoto and his team aimed to evaluate if mirtazapine could be used as a first choice for depressive episodes instead of SSRIs on benzodiazepine use in patients diagnosed with major depressive disorder. HDRS scores between mirtazapine and SSRI groups were not statistically significant, as well as changes within the AIS and CGI-S scores. SDS scores of paroxetine and mirtazapine reflects that SDS scores of the mirtazapine group showed significant improvement than those of the paroxetine group in the week-to-week trials.⁸



In a study completed McCarthy and his colleagues, the researchers looked at well-known SSRIs and how they compare to a known TCA. 51 rats were observed as the changes in REM sleep observed in major depressive disorder are similar to the effects of REM sleep restricted sleep in humans and animals. The two SSRIs, known as citalopram and paroxetine showed that REM sleep inhibition by these antidepressants was unaltered by the presence of REM sleep pressure. NREM sleep time was also fully compensated in the citalopram and paroxetine treated group. On the other hand, the TCA imipramine showed a complete recovery adding to the response to prior REM sleep restriction. Imipramine REM restriction showed that NREM sleep time was reduced and not fully compensated up to 36 hours post treatment. SSRIs also may inhibit REM sleep by reducing NREM to REM transitions. This is accomplished without altering the lengths of time of NREM sleep. Imipramine extends NREM sleep time, which induces greater sensitization and a byproduct of a reduced opportunity for REM sleep. During the recovery period, however, this leads to an increase in REM sleep.¹⁷

Serotonergic Antidepressants

The classification of other serotonergic antidepressants differs from SSRIs due to their effect on sleep and specifically their neurotransmission. SSRIs prevent the reuptake of serotonin whereas serotonergic antidepressants (SNRIs) prevent the reuptake of norepinephrine and serotonin. Trazodone has been shown in patients to enhance slow-wave sleep, prolong REM latency, and increase total sleep time. The dose dependent effects of these antidepressants differs from study to study. A study done by van Bemmel and his colleagues reported no change in slow-wave sleep. They concluded that 5% to 9% of their patients underwent REM sleep suppression. Earlier studies used double the amount of trazodone that was done in this particular



study. In 20 of 21 patients that had MAOI-associated insomnia, they reported that the administration of trazodone improved their sleep. Clinically, trazodone is viewed as a sedating antidepressant and can have effects in alertness during the day.²¹ At higher doses, this becomes more of a problem as the sedative effects can affect the individual's performance in daily activities.

Another serotonergic antidepressant that is widely used includes nefazodone. Particularly, this antidepressant is given in 400 mg to 600 mg doses. Armitage and others report that the administration of nefazodone increases stage 2 sleep but has shown to have little to no effect on REM sleep.²⁸ In addition, nefazodone decreases awake and movement time during sleep, and it also proves to keep individuals in a more relaxed state. Short duration arousals are common for individuals taking this antidepressant. Nefazodone is different from SSRIs and trazodone since it inhibits synaptic uptake of 5-HT and possess 5-HT2 antagonism. In patients that have depression, a reduction in REM sleep is often essential to start seeing anti-depressive like behavior.

Alternatives to Antidepressants

Numerous other treatments may be used instead of antidepressants for treated individuals with depression or other mental health conditions. One of the most popular therapies is known as cognitive behavioral therapy. Cognitive behavioral therapy is a division of psychotherapy that relates to changing the thought patterns and behaviors of a certain individual.¹⁷ Ultimately, it is an interventional that will teach patients how to overcome negative thoughts. Interpersonal therapy, exercise, and self-help groups are also helpful options to explore.²³ Interpersonal therapy is similar to cognitive behavioral therapy, but it will focus on problems one might have



having with friends and family members. Therefore, they might be able to understand the difficulties they are having in their relationships and can learn how to better communicate with other individuals. Regular exercise boosts levels of serotonin and dopamine, which will elevate your mood. In addition, self-esteem and confidence can be boosted over time with normalized exercise. Self-help groups are provide individuals another option for depressed individuals. Individuals can find ways to support others, keep up with social activities, and reach out to others who make them feel safe and secure.

Another alternative to investigate is the consumption of omega-3 fatty acids. Intake of omega-6 fatty acids has dramatically increased in the Western diet in the 21st century. Omega-6 fatty acids are elongated in the body to form arachidonic acid while omega-3 fatty acids are elongated to form eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA). The eicosanoids formed when more omega-6 fatty acids are consumed result in more proinflammatory eicosanoids. Blood clotting and inflammation are encouraged because of this. On the other hand, an ingestion of more omega-3 fatty acids will result in less proinflammatory eicosanoids limiting inflammation and blood clotting. Ingestion of omega-3 fatty acids is believed to reduce cardiovascular risks as well.

EPA, a known omega-3 fatty acid, inhibits the synthesis of prostaglandin E2. This will inhibit the synthesis of p-glycoprotein, which is generally considered a useful maker for antidepressant resistance. A study conducted by Peet and Horrobin looked at using ethyl-eicosapentaenoate for 70 adults who had persistent depression despite already being treated with an antidepressant. They observed a higher response rate in subjects that received 1g/d EPA for 12 weeks than the other patients who received a placebo. These results proved to be statistically significant as the rate was 53% of the subjects who received EPA to 29% with the other



individuals who received a placebo. There was also remarkable enhancements in depressed moods, suicidality, and sleep disturbance. This study also showed that adults that received more than 1 g/d of EPA showed little improvement for a drug to placebo difference. This might point to there being an optimal dose of omega-3 fatty acid intake within humans before a plateau occurs.²⁰

A study conducted by Frangou and his researchers followed a similar pattern to Peet and Horrobin's study. They treated 75 depressed individuals with ethyl-eicosapentaenoate at 1 g/d, 2 g/d, and placebo for 12 weeks. The EPA group showed to be beneficial based on HAM-D scores in comparison to the placebo groups from the experiment. This study also suggested that the higher dose of 2 g/d created no additional benefit when looking back at the 1 g/d group.⁵

Limitations of Studies

Circadian factors can alter the effects of antidepressants as pharmacological treatments target circadian gene products.^{11,17} Studies that attempted to inhibit REM sleep are distorted to some degree by the timing of the light-dark cycle. Our circadian rhythm, along with adenosine signaling, trigger our body to sleep. Circadian factors need to be more thoroughly looked at to determine if certain genes are altered as well.

Most omega-3 fatty acid studies are limited to the sample size taken. Depressive evaluation tests performed by patients will offer some variability patient to patient based on the rating they give themselves. Depressive vs manic symptoms also need to be implored in research to point which is specifically downregulated in regards to a decrease in REM sleep. Some studies grouped depressed patients in one group instead of dividing them out based on the condition they were diagnosed with. Many of the studies showed a small sample size and were



not necessarily representative of the whole population of patients who tolerate depressive symptoms.

Conclusion

In regards to alleviating depressive symptoms, a decrease in the overall time in REM sleep is clear in many patients. Longer REM sleep latency and shorter REM duration lead to more favorable outcomes. Many of the antidepressants used today provide an overall improvement in alleviating depressive symptoms. Antidepressants typically have half lives of 24 hours and are eliminated out of your body within 4-5 days. Based on preliminary studies, tricyclic antidepressants serve to decrease REM sleep time, increase REM sleep latency, and show REM sleep rebound over a 72 hour period. This may serve more favorable outcomes when REM sleep time is initially decreased but REM sleep lost can be rebounded. However, this is not the only best-for-all approach solution to fixing all problems. Prescribing the right antidepressant for each patient is also key to the patient's outcome. This may be based on particular symptoms, interactions with other essential medications, and possible side effects.

Many side effects due to long term use are seen and cost vs benefit approach needs to be explored. Treatment will not be the exact same for each patient, and many patients will need multiple treatment options to experience relief. A combined treatment approach may improve the patient's quality of life since it is not always one simple fix to improve each patient's overall quality of life. Patients typically still have to take antidepressants up to one year after depressive symptoms seem to be eliminated. Focusing on lifestyle changes for the individual during that time as well may improve quality of life faster them as they transition their outlook. More personalization and medical advances in the future will provide individuals with better outcomes.



Future Work

Further work should be done to examine how the circadian rhythm and REM sleep homeostasis interact to help provide a mechanism of REM sleep regulation. Many of the studies conducted will need to have a certain depressive symptom common in all individuals and need to evaluate how much alleviation occurs. Universal wide depressive scales based on the disorder need to be developed in order to get more accurate and precise results.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Cindy Gubbels for serving as my external reviewer for this paper.



References

- ¹ Aton, S. J., Seibt, J., Dumoulin, M. C., Coleman, T., Shiraishi, M., & Frank, M. G. (2009). The Sedating Antidepressant Trazodone Impairs Sleep-Dependent Cortical Plasticity. *PLOS ONE*, 4(7), e6078. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0006078
- ² Baglioni, C., Nanovska, S., Regen, W., Spiegelhalder, K., Feige, B., Nissen, C., . . . Riemann, D. (2016). Sleep and mental disorders: A meta-analysis of polysomnographic research. *Psychol Bull*, 142(9), 969-990. doi:10.1037/bul0000053
- ³ Dornbierer, D. A., Baur, D. M., Stucky, B., Quednow, B. B., Kraemer, T., Seifritz, E., Landolt, H. P. (2019). Neurophysiological signature of gamma-hydroxybutyrate augmented sleep in male healthy volunteers may reflect biomimetic sleep enhancement: a randomized controlled trial. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 44(11), 1985-1993. doi:10.1038/s41386-019-0382-z
- ⁴ Dubovsky, Steven L. (2018). What Is New about New Antidepressants? *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 87(3), 129-139. doi:10.1159/000488945
- ⁵ Frangou, S., Lewis, M., & McCrone, P. (2006). Efficacy of ethyl-eicosapentaenoic acid in bipolar depression: Randomised double-blind placebo-controlled study. *British Journal* of Psychiatry, 188(1), 46-50. doi:10.1192/bjp.188.1.46
- ⁶ Frauscher, B., Gschliesser, V., Brandauer, E., Marti, I., Furtner, M. T., Ulmer, H., Hogl, B. (2010). REM sleep behavior disorder in 703 sleep-disorder patients: the importance of eliciting a comprehensive sleep history. *Sleep Med*, *11*(2), 167-171. doi:10.1016/j.sleep.2009.03.011
- ⁷ Göder, R., Seeck-Hirschner, M., Stingele, K., Huchzermeier, C., Kropp, C., Palaschewski, M., Koch, J. (2011). Sleep and cognition at baseline and the effects of REM sleep diminution after 1 week of antidepressive treatment in patients with depression: Effects of REM sleep diminution. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 20(4), 544-551. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2869.2011.00914.
- ⁸ Hashimoto, T., Shiina, A., Hasegawa, T., Kimura, H., Oda, Y., Niitsu, T., Iyo, M. (2016). Effect of mirtazapine versus selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors on benzodiazepine use in patients with major depressive disorder: a pragmatic, multicenter, open-label, randomized, active-controlled, 24-week trial. *Ann Gen Psychiatry*, 15, 27. doi:10.1186/s12991-016-0115-1
- ⁹ Hickie, I. B., & Rogers, N. L. (2011). Novel melatonin-based therapies: potential advances in the treatment of major depression. *The Lancet*, 378(9791), 621-631. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(11)60095-0
- ¹⁰ Hines, D. J., Schmitt, L. I., Hines, R. M., Moss, S. J., & Haydon, P. G. (2013). Antidepressant effects of sleep deprivation require astrocyte-dependent adenosine mediated signaling. *Transl Psychiatry*, *3*, e212. doi:10.1038/tp.2012.136
- ¹¹ Ju, Y. E., Larson-Prior, L., & Duntley, S. (2011). Changing demographics in REM sleep behavior disorder: possible effect of autoimmunity and antidepressants. *Sleep Med*, 12(3), 278-283. doi:10.1016/j.sleep.2010.07.022
- ¹² Klemm, W. R. (2011). Why Does Rem Sleep Occur? A Wake-Up Hypothesis1. Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience, 5. doi:10.3389/fnsys.2011.00073
- ¹³Lau, E. Y. Y., Wong, M. L., Lau, K. N. T., Hui, F. W. Y., & Tseng, C.-h. (2015). Rapid-Eye-Movement-Sleep (REM) Associated Enhancement of Working Memory Performance after a Daytime Nap. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(5), e0125752. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0125752



- ¹⁴ Liang, Y., Li, Y., Wang, H., Cheng, X., Guan, M., Zhong, S., & Zhao, C. (2019). Does the Use of Antidepressants Accelerate the Disease Progress in Creutzfeldt-Jakob Disease Patients With Depression? A Case Report and A Systematic Review. *Front Psychiatry*, 10, 297. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00297
- ¹⁵ Liu, Y., Xu, X., Dong, M., Jia, S., & Wei, Y. (2017). Treatment of insomnia with tricyclic antidepressants: a meta-analysis of polysomnographic randomized controlled trials. *Sleep Med*, 34, 126-133. doi:10.1016/j.sleep.2017.03.007
- ¹⁶ McCarter, S. J., St Louis, E. K., Sandness, D. J., Arndt, K., Erickson, M., Tabatabai, G., Silber, M. H. (2015). Antidepressants Increase REM Sleep Muscle Tone in Patients with and without REM Sleep Behavior Disorder. *Sleep*, *38*(6), 907-917. doi:10.5665/sleep.4738
- ¹⁷ McCarthy, A., Wafford, K., Shanks, E., Ligocki, M., Edgar, D. M., & Dijk, D. J. (2016). REM sleep homeostasis in the absence of REM sleep: Effects of antidepressants. *Neuropharmacology*, 108, 415-425. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2016.04.047
- ¹⁸ Mischoulon, D. (2009). Update and Critique of Natural Remedies as Antidepressant Treatments. *Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics of North America*, 36(4), 789-807. doi:10.1016/j.ogc.2009.10.005
- ¹⁹ Pigott, H. E., Leventhal, A. M., Alter, G. S., & Boren, J. J. (2010). Efficacy and Effectiveness of Antidepressants: Current Status of Research. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 79(5), 267-279. doi:10.1159/000318293
- ²⁰ Peet, M., & Horrobin, D. F. (2002). A Dose-Ranging Study of the Effects of Ethyl-Eicosapentaenoate in Patients With Ongoing Depression Despite Apparently Adequate Treatment With Standard Drugs. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 59(10), 913. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.59.10.913
- ²¹ Peever, J., & Fuller, P. M. (2016). Neuroscience: A Distributed Neural Network Controls REM Sleep. *Curr Biol*, 26(1), R34-35. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2015.11.011
- ²² Postuma, R. B., Gagnon, J. F., Tuineaig, M., Bertrand, J. A., Latreille, V., Desjardins, C., & Montplaisir, J. Y. (2013). Antidepressants and REM sleep behavior disorder: isolated side effect or neurodegenerative signal? *Sleep*, *36*(11), 1579-1585. doi:10.5665/sleep.3102
- ²³ Rottach, K. G., Schaner, B. M., Kirch, M. H., Zivotofsky, A. Z., Teufel, L. M., Gallwitz, T., & Messer, T. (2008). Restless legs syndrome as side effect of second generation antidepressants. *J Psychiatr Res*, 43(1), 70-75. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2008.02.006
- ²⁴ Sateia, M. J., Buysse, D. J., Krystal, A. D., Neubauer, D. N., & Heald, J. L. (2017). Clinical Practice Guideline for the Pharmacologic Treatment of Chronic Insomnia in Adults: An American Academy of Sleep Medicine Clinical Practice Guideline. *J Clin Sleep Med*, *13*(2), 307-349. doi:10.5664/jcsm.6470
- ²⁵ Schenck, C. H., Boeve, B. F., & Mahowald, M. W. (2013). Delayed emergence of a parkinsonian disorder or dementia in 81% of older men initially diagnosed with idiopathic rapid eye movement sleep behavior disorder: a 16-year update on a previously reported series. *Sleep Med*, 14(8), 744-748. doi:10.1016/j.sleep.2012.10.009
- ²⁶ Serretti, A., & Mandelli, L. (2010). Antidepressants and Body Weight. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 71(10), 1259-1272. doi:10.4088/JCP.09r05346blu
- ²⁷ Sowa-Kucma, M., Panczyszyn-Trzewik, P., Misztak, P., Jaeschke, R. R., Sendek, K., Styczen, K., Koperny, M. (2017). Vortioxetine: A review of the pharmacology and clinical profile of the novel antidepressant. *Pharmacol Rep, 69*(4), 595-601. doi:10.1016/j.pharep.2017.01.030



- ²⁸ Tan, L., Zhou, J., Yang, L., Ren, R., Zhang, Y., Li, T., & Tang, X. (2017). Duloxetine-induced rapid eye movement sleep behavior disorder: a case report. *BMC Psychiatry*, 17(1), 372. doi:10.1186/s12888-017-1535-4
- ²⁹ Teman, P. T., Tippmann-Peikert, M., Silber, M. H., Slocumb, N. L., & Auger, R. R. (2009). Idiopathic rapid-eye-movement sleep disorder: associations with antidepressants, psychiatric diagnoses, and other factors, in relation to age of onset. *Sleep Med*, 10(1), 60-65. doi:10.1016/j.sleep.2007.11.019
- ³⁰ Vyazovskiy, V. V., & Delogu, A. (2014). NREM and REM Sleep: Complementary Roles in Recovery after Wakefulness. *Neuroscientist*, 20(3), 203-219. doi:10.1177/1073858413518152
- ³¹ Watts, A., Gritton, H. J., Sweigart, J., & Poe, G. R. (2012). Antidepressant suppression of non-REM sleep spindles and REM sleep impairs hippocampus-dependent learning while augmenting striatum-dependent learning. *J Neurosci*, 32(39), 13411-13420. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0170-12.2012
- ³² Wichniak, A., Wierzbicka, A., Walecka, M., & Jernajczyk, W. (2017). Effects of Antidepressants on Sleep. *Curr Psychiatry Rep, 19*(9), 63. doi:10.1007/s11920-017-0816-4

